
 
 
 

 
City of Westminster 
 

  
 

Council Agenda 
 

Title: 
 

 Council Meeting 

   

Meeting Date: 
 

 Wednesday 6th March, 2024 

   

Time: 
 

 7.00 pm 

   

Venue: 
 

 Westminster Council House, 97-113 Marylebone Road, 
London, NW1 5PT 

   

Members: 
 

 All Councillors are hereby summoned to attend the Meeting 
for the transaction of the business set out. 

    
   

 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 In line with legislation Committee members will attend the 
meeting in person. This meeting will be live streamed 
through the Council’s website.  
 
Limited admission to the public gallery is available from 
6.30pm. Please telephone if you are attending the meeting in 
a wheelchair or have difficulty walking up steps. There is 
wheelchair access via the Sammy Ofer Centre. 
 

    
 If you require any further information, please contact the 

Committee Officer, Janis Best, Committee and Councillor 
Support Manager. 
 
Email: jbest@westminster.gov.uk   Tel: 07971 920521 
Corporate Website: www.westminster.gov.uk 
 
 

 
 

Public Document Pack

http://www.westminster.gov.uk/


 

 

1.   APPOINTMENT OF RELIEF CHAIR  

 To appoint a relief Chair. 
 

 

2.   MINUTES (Pages 5 - 10) 

 To sign the Minutes of the Council meeting held on 24 January 
2024.  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  

 To receive declarations by Members and Officers of the 
existence and nature of any pecuniary interests or any other 
significant interest in matters on this agenda. 
 

 

4.   CABINET REPORT (Pages 11 - 22) 

 To receive and consider the following Cabinet report: 19 
February 2024 
  
Appendix 1: 
Business and Financial Planning 2024/25 to 2026/27 
  
Report 
  
Appendix 1 – Council Tax Resolution 
  
Appendix 2 – Budget Scrutiny Task Group Papers 
  
Appendix 3 – Summary of Gross, Income and Net Budgets 
  
Appendix 4 – List of New Savings 
  
Appendix 5 – Service Pressures and Investments 
  
Appendix 6 – Previously Agreed Savings 
  
Appendix 7 – EIA Summary 
  
Appendix 8 – S25 Report 
  
Appendix 9 – CIPFA Financial Management Code 2024-25 
  
Appendix 10 – Net Budget Trail 
  
 
 
 
 

 

https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58839/Business%20and%20Financial%20Planning%202024-25%20to%202026-27.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58839/Business%20and%20Financial%20Planning%202024-25%20to%202026-27.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58840/Appendix%201%20-%20Council%20Tax%20Resolution.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58840/Appendix%201%20-%20Council%20Tax%20Resolution.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58841/Appendix%202%20-%20Budget%20Scrutiny%20Task%20Group%20Papers.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58841/Appendix%202%20-%20Budget%20Scrutiny%20Task%20Group%20Papers.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58842/Appendix%203%20-%20Summary%20of%20Gross%20Income%20and%20Net%20budgets.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58843/Appendix%204%20-%20List%20of%20new%20savings.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58844/Appendix%205%20-%20Service%20Pressures%20and%20Investments.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58845/Appendix%206%20-%20Previously%20agreed%20savings.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58846/Appendix%207%20-%20EIA%20Summary.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58847/Appendix%208%20-%20S25%20Report.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58848/Appendix%209%20-%20CIPFA%20Financial%20Management%20Code%202024-25.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58849/Appendix%2010%20-%20Net%20Budget%20Trail.pdf


 
 

 

3

Appendix 2: 
Capital Strategy 2024/25 to 2028/29, Forecast Position for 
2023/24 and Future Years Forecast to 2037/38 

 
Report 
  
Appendix A – Capital Strategy 

  
  

Appendix 3: 
Integrated Investment Framework 2024/2025 
  
Report and Appendices A to C 

  
  
Appendix 4: 
Treasury Management Strategy 2024/25 to 2028/29 
  
Report and Appendices 1 to 4 

  
  

Appendix 5: 
Housing Revenue Account 30-Year Business Plan and Housing 
Investment Plan 2024/25 
  
Report 

 
Appendices 1 & 2 – HRA Business Plan Assumptions & Risk 
Analysis 
  
Appendices 3 & 4 – Detailed HRA Revenue Schedules 
  
Appendix 5 – HRA 30-Year Capital Programme 
  
  
Appendix 6: 
Pay Policy 2024-2025 
  
Report 
 
Appendix 1 
  

5.   REPORT OF THE GENERAL PURPOSES COMMITTEE (Pages 23 - 24) 

 To receive, consider and debate, if chosen, the following General 
Purposes Committee report:  
  
Members’ Allowances Scheme 2024 – 2025  
 

 

https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58837/Capital%20Strategy%202024-25%20to%202037-38.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58838/Appendix%20A%20-%20Capital%20Strategy.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58828/Integrated%20Investment%20Framework%202024-25.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58822/Treasury%20Management%20Strategy%202024-25%20v2GA.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58829/Housing%20Revenue%20Account%2030-Year%20Business%20Plan%20and%20Housing%20Investment%20Plan%202024-25.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58830/Appendices%201%202%20-%20HRA%20Business%20Plan%20Assumptions%20Risk%20Analysis.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58831/Appendices%203%204%20-%20Detailed%20HRA%20Revenue%20Schedules.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58832/Appendix%205%20-%20HRA%2030-Year%20Capital%20Programme.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58834/WCC%20Pay%20Policy%202024-25%20-%20Report%20to%20Cabinet.pdf
https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58815/WCC%20Pay%20Policy%202024-25.pdf


 
 

 

4

Appendix 1 
 
 
64 Victoria Street 
London, SW1E 6QP 
27 February 2024 

 

 Chief Executive 
 

https://westminster.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58629/GPC%20Report%20-%20Members%20Allowances.pdf


 
1 

 

CITY OF WESTMINSTER 
 

MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS 
 

At the Meeting of the Council of the City of Westminster held at 7.00 pm on 
Wednesday 24th January, 2024 at Westminster Council House, 97-113 Marylebone 

Road, London, NW1 5PT. 
 
 

PRESENT 
 

The Lord Mayor, Councillor Patricia McAllister 
 

COUNCILLORS 
 
Concia Albert  
Gillian Arrindell  
Barbara Arzymanow  
Geoff Barraclough  
Liza Begum  
David Boothroyd  
Ruth Bush  
Nafsika Butler-Thalassis  
Melvyn Caplan  
Maggie Carman  
Md Shamsed Chowdhury  
Laila Cunningham 
Lorraine Dean  
Tony Devenish  
Paul Dimoldenberg  
Robert Eagleton  
Paul Fisher  
Jim Glen  
David Harvey  
Sara Hassan  
Elizabeth Hitchcock  
Adam Hug  
Louise Hyams  
Ryan Jude  
Amanda Langford 
Aicha Less  
 

Iman Less  
Patrick Lilley  
Alan Mendoza 
Tim Mitchell  
Matt Noble  
Ellie Ormsby  
Ralu Oteh-Osoka  
Angela Piddock  
Ed Pitt Ford  
Robert Rigby  
Rachael Robathan  
Tim Roca 
Ian Rowley  
Caroline Sargent  
Karen Scarborough  
Mark Shearer  
Selina Short  
James Small-Edwards  
Judith Southern  
Max Sullivan 
Paul Swaddle  
Hamza Taouzzale  
Jessica Toale  
Aziz Toki  
Jacqui Wilkinson  
Jason Williams 
 

APOLOGIES: Councillor Cara Sanquest 
 
The Lord Mayor invited the Council to join her in observing a minute’s silence in 
memory of two former Councillors, Honorary Alderman Anne Mallinson OBE and 
Gery Bramall, who had both sadly passed away. 
 
 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



 
2 

 

1 APPOINTMENT OF RELIEF CHAIRMAN 
 
1.1  Motion moved by the Lord Mayor and seconded by Councillor Ellie Ormsby, 

that Councillor Concia Albert be elected as Relief Chair.  
 
1.2  Motion put, and on a show of hands, declared CARRIED. 
 
 
2 MINUTES 
 
2.1  The minutes of the proceedings at the Council meeting held on Wednesday 

15 November 2023 were, with the assent of the Members present, signed by 
the Lord Mayor as a true record of the proceedings. 

 
 
3 LORD MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS 
 
3.1  The Lord Mayor referred to these as set out on the agenda. 
 
 
4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 
4.1  There were no declarations of interest. 
 
 
5 STATEMENT ON URGENT MATTERS 
 
5.1  There were no urgent matters. 
 
 
6 COUNCILLOR PRESENTED PETITIONS AND DEPUTATIONS, IF ANY 
 
6.1  There were no petitions or deputations received. 
 
 
7 PUBLIC PARTICIPATION 
 
7.1  Members of the public asked five questions which were responded to by the 

relevant Cabinet Members. The questions and responses are available on the 
Council’s website. 

 
 
8 QUESTIONS 
 
8.1  The questions, supplementary questions and replies are included as a 

recording on the Council’s website. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



 
3 

 

9 COUNCILLOR ISSUE 
 
9.1  Housing Repairs in Pimlico 
 

Councillor Jim Glen spoke, and Councillor Liza Begum replied. 
 
 
10 PARTY BUSINESS 
 
10.1  The Majority Party selected to debate the topic of ‘A new public realm CCTV 

network for Westminster’. The debate would be referred to the relevant 
Executive Director for consideration when reporting on the subject. 

 
10.2  The Opposition Party selected to debate the topic of ‘Tackling Crime and Anti-

Social Behaviour in Westminster’. The debate would be referred to the 
relevant Executive Director for consideration when reporting on the subject. 

 
 
11 SAFER WESTMINSTER PARTNERSHIP STRATEGY 2024-27 
 
11.1 RESOLVED: 
 
 That the Safer Westminster Partnership Strategy 2024 -2027 be approved. 
 
 
12 REPORT TO FULL COUNCIL: COUNCIL TAX DISCOUNTS (INCLUDING 

COUNCIL TAX LOCAL REDUCTION SCHEME) AND COUNCIL TAX BASE 
REPORT 

 
12.1 RESOLVED: 
 

1) That the following recommendations for the financial year 2024/25 be 
approved:-  
 
(i)       that the Council Tax discount for second homes remains at 0%  
 
(ii)       that the Council Tax discounts for empty properties, including the  

discounts that replaced the previous Class A and C Council Tax 
exemptions, remain at 0%.  

 
(iii) that a Long-Term Empty Property Premium continues at the 

maximum percentages allowed for by the current legislation for the 
2024/25 financial year. which includes commencing the premium a 
year after a property has been empty, rather than the current 2 
years.  

 
(iv)      that the Director of Revenues & Benefits be given delegated 

authority to determine any individual local discount applications 
received from Council Taxpayers during the 2024/25 financial year 
under section 13A(1)(c) of the Local Government Finance Act 
1992.  

Page 7



 
4 

 

 
2)  That the same Council Tax Reduction Scheme for 2024/25 which has 

operated successfully since 2013/14 be approved. The scheme was 
based on the Default Scheme Regulations, updated to reflect changes 
made via the Prescribed Requirements Amendment Regulations and with 
War Disabled Pensions, War Widow, Pensions and Armed Forces 
Compensation scheme payments disregarded in full when calculating a 
claimant’s income. The same disregards should also apply to Housing 
Benefit and claims for Discretionary Housing Payment (DHP).  

 
3) That the Council Tax Base for 2024/25 for the Whole City is 137,295.64 

equivalent Band D properties, for Montpelier Square alone 96.96 
equivalent Band D properties and for Queen’s Park 3,700.40 equivalent 
Band D properties.  

 
4) That the figures set out in paragraph 2.3 above for the Council Tax Base 

for 2024/25 be used by the Council to make a determination pursuant to 
the requirements of the Local Government Finance Act 1992.  

 
5) That it be determined to implement a 100% Second Home Premium for 

the 2025/26 financial year, which is the earliest date allowed for under the 
new legislation. 

 
 
13 NOTICE OF MOTION 
 

Co-operative Councils’ Innovation Network 
 
13.1  The Majority Party submitted the notice of motion as set out on the agenda. 

The notice of motion was moved by Councillor Ellie Ormsby and seconded by 
Councillor Jason Williams.  

 
13.2  The Lord Mayor put the motion to the vote and following a show of hands 

declared the motion CARRIED.  
 

RESOLVED:  
 
That 
 
This Council notes that:  
 
  The Co-operative Council’s Innovation Network (CCIN) is a Local 

Government Association (LGA) Special Interest Group and is open to all 
UK Councils. It is a non-party political organisation.  

 
  The CCIN’s stated aim is to drive innovation and reform within the 

framework of Cooperative values and principles, building an equal 
partnership with local people.  

 
  By the 9 January 2024, there were already 47 Full Council Members, 24 

Associate Members (including 13 Town, Parish & Community Councils), 

Page 8



 
5 

 

and 53 Affiliate Members. Co-operative Council Members (excluding 
GMCA) represent 12.35m citizens and control a budget of £21.4bn.  

 
  Under the new Labour administration, and its Fairer Westminster 

Strategy, the Council has already made great progress in embedding the 
‘Co-operative difference’ into the way the Council works with its residents. 
For example, through Westminster’s Charter Against Dirty Money, revised 
Responsible Procurement Strategy, Fairer Economy Plan, Local Area 
Panels and reform of resident consultation – to name just a few examples 
of change.  

 
This Council believes that:  
 
  The unprecedented challenges facing the public sector and local 

communities mean that traditional models of topdown governance and 
economic growth are no longer fit for purpose.  

 
  We urgently need to create a new approach, and that the founding 

traditions of the co-operative movement – collective action and co-
operation, empowerment and enterprise – offer a foundation for fresh and 
innovative solutions which can be built on to tackle the challenges of 
today.  

 
  The Co-operative Values developed by the International Co-operative 

Alliance should be at the heart of this new approach. The core values of 
self-help, self-responsibility, democracy, equality, equity and solidarity.  

 
The Council resolves to:  
 
  Play an active role as a new member of the CCIN and be part of a 

growing and influential network committed to developing a new 
relationship with citizens.  

 
  Further embed the ‘Co-operative difference’ into the way this Council 

works with its residents, and adhere to the principles of the CCIN as part 
of our Fairer Westminster Strategy:  

 
o Social Partnership - We will strengthen the cooperative partnership 

between the Council, citizens, communities and enterprises, based on 
a shared sense of responsibility for wellbeing and mutual benefit.  
 

o   Co-production - We will develop systems that enable citizens to be 
equal partners in designing and commissioning Council services and 
in determining the use of public resources.  
 

o   Democratic Engagement - We will support the active engagement of 
the full range of residents in decision making and priority setting.  
 

o   Enterprise and Social Economy - We will promote community-based 
approaches to economic development that focus on supporting the 

Page 9



 
6 

 

creation of jobs, social enterprises and other businesses and providing 
an environment for co-operative and mutual enterprises to thrive.  
 

o   Maximising social value - We will support the development of a 
framework and criteria for social value, giving substance to the 
concept, to ensure better local social and economic outcomes.  
 

o   New models of meeting priority needs - In exploring new ways of 
meeting the priority needs of our communities we will encourage 
models, such as co-operatives and mutuals, which give greater 
influence and voice to staff and users in designing and commissioning 
public services and in determining the use of public resources.  
 

o   Community leadership and a new role for councillors - We will explore 
ways for the Council to act as a platform for helping the community to 
contribute to local outcomes, and to re-think the role of councillors as 
community connectors, brokers and leaders.  
 

o   Innovation - We will embrace innovation in how we work with local 
communities to drive positive change.  
 

o   Learning - We will capture and ‘expand’ the experience and learning 
from individual projects to encourage broader application of 
cooperative principles across the Network. 

 
The Meeting ended at 9.27pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
CHAIRMAN:   DATE  
 
 

Page 10



Report of the Cabinet meeting held on Monday 19 February 2024 
 
Present:  Councillors Adam Hug (Chair), Aicha Less, Nafsika Butler-Thalassis, 

Geoff Barraclough, David Boothroyd, Paul Dimoldenberg, Liza Begum 
Matt Noble, Cara Sanquest, Ryan Jude 

 
1. Business and Financial Planning 2024/25 to 2026/27 
 
(a) This report from the Section 151 officer brings together the Council’s business 

and financial planning and looks forward over the next three years to set out 
how it will support the Council’s objectives under the Fairer Westminster 
strategy, supported by a medium-term financial plan and balanced budget for 
2024/25.  
 

(b) On 22 November 2023 the Government set out its Autumn Statement. The 
aspects relating to local government funding were a continuation of the 
Government’s 2022 Autumn Statement in that no new funding was announced 
beyond the known increases that government had previously advised such as 
the increases in Adult Social Care funding. 
 

(c) This was followed by the Local Government provisional Finance Settlement on 
18 December 2023. The settlement represented an increase in Core Spending 
Power for local government of almost £4bn or 6.5% in cash terms which 
includes Government assumption that authorities will take the maximum 5.0% 
council tax increase for 2024/25. 

 
(d) After pressure from local government through responses to the settlement 

consultation, government announced a further £600m support package to help 
with the unprecedented challenges which the sector is facing. Details of how 
this additional funding would be allocated was announced as part of the final 
settlement on 5th February 2024. Overall, this additional funding increases the 
Core Spending Power across local authorities for 2024/25 to 7.5%. 

 
(e) This report outlines a balanced budget for 2024/25, but still forecasts a gap of 

£48m over the following two years. The budget includes a 2.99% increase in 
the general element of council tax and an increase of 2% for the Adult Social 
Care precept element. At Band D this will result in an annual increase of £23.85 
or an equivalent weekly amount of 46p per week. When combined, the general 
element of council tax and adult social care precept, for Westminster, will rise 
from £477.91 to £501.76 at Band D. 

 
(f) The recommended General Fund budget of £205.545m is a net increase of 

£11.934m against last year. In broad terms this includes Fairer Westminster 
investments of £8.5m, service cost and income pressures of £52.5m, additional 
resources for adult social care of £5.4m, increased capital financing costs of 
£3m and other changes of £1.5m; offset by net increased government funding 
of £20m, savings proposals of £20.1m and additional interest earnings of 
£15.2m. The balance is funded from the increase in council tax income of 
£3.9m and £11.7m from earmarked reserves. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



(g) Local government is under significant financial pressure with demand for 
services rising alongside cost pressures caused by persistently high inflation. 
Whilst funding for the sector has increased for 24/25 as part of the financial 
settlement, this follows a decade whereby funding has been reduced in real 
terms, creating sustained financial pressure on local authorities. The cost-of-
living crisis continues to have a significant impact on Westminster residents and 
businesses and the Council. High prevailing inflation has resulted in ongoing 
and rising cost pressures for key service areas. 

 
(h) At our meeting we heard from the Chair of the Budget Scrutiny Task Group who 

started by saying that the Budget was financially robust. He then outlined the 
work undertaken this year to improve the scrutiny process which included 
Cabinet Members attending Task Group meetings to defend their decision 
making.  He also spoke about moving the process earlier in the year so that the 
Task Groups had a more meaningful impact on the budget.  

 
 
 

We recommend to full Council: 
 

Council Tax 
 

1) That the Council Tax for a Band D be agreed at £501.76 for 2024/25. 
 

2) That subject to the consideration of the previous recommendation, the council 
tax for the City of Westminster, excluding the Montpelier Square area and 
Queen’s Park Community Council, for the year ending 31 March 2025, be as 
specified in the Council Tax Resolution in Appendix 1 of the Section 151 
officer’s report. 
 

3) That the Precepts and Special Expenses be as also specified in Appendix 1 of 
the Section 151 officer’s report for properties in Montpelier Square and the 
Queen’s Park Community Council. 
 

4) That the formal resolution for 2024/25 attached at Appendix 1 of the Section 
151 officer’s report including the council tax requirement of £68.889m be 
agreed. 
 

5) Note the proposed Greater London Authority precept (Band D) of £471.40, an 
increase of £37.26 in the adjusted Band D precept.  
 

6) That the Council continues the Westminster Community Contribution scheme to 
allow residents in the City to voluntarily contribute towards supporting 
discretionary services that support the three priorities of youth services, helping 
rough sleepers off the streets and supporting people who are lonely and 
isolated. 

 
 
 
 

Page 12



 
Revenue Budget  
 
7) To note the views of the Scrutiny Budget Task Group set out in Appendix 2 of 

the Section 151 officer’s report. 
 

8) That the proposed General Fund net budget requirement of £205.545m 
summarised in Appendix 3 of the Section 151 officer’s report is approved. 
 

9) That the savings, pressures and investments for 2024/25 to 2026/27 set out in 
Appendix 4, 5 and 6 of the Section 151 officer’s report, are approved. 
 

10) That the Equality Impact Assessments included in Appendix 7 of the Section 
151 officer’s report are noted to inform the consideration of the budget. 
 

11) Note the Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan 2024/25 and 30 Year 
Housing Investment Plan presented concurrently to Cabinet on 19 February 
2024 that recommends the HRA budget and rent levels for 2024/25. 
 

 
Capital Programme  
 
12) Note the Capital Strategy 2024/25 to 2028/29, forecast position for 2023/24 and 

future years’ forecasts summarised up to 2037/38 report also presented to 
Cabinet on 19 February 2024 that recommends the Council’s capital 
programme and financing. 
 

 
Reserves, Balances and Budget Estimates  
 
13) Agree the reserves policy as set out in section 9 of the Section 151 officer’s 

report;  
 
14) Note the opinion of the Section 151 Officer with regards to the robustness of 

the budget process, the estimates underpinning the budget and the adequacy 
of the reserves as set out in Appendix 8 of the Section 151 officer’s report as 
required by S25 of the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

 
Treasury Management and Investment Framework  
 
15) Note the Treasury Management Strategy for 2024/25 including the annual 

investment strategy, borrowing limits and prudential indicators summarised in 
this report and set out detail in a concurrent report on this agenda.  

 
16) Note the 2024/25 Integrated Investment Framework report also concurrently on 

this agenda, which sets out the policies and framework for future investment 
decisions for the Council. 

 
 

Page 13



 
Fairer Westminster Delivery Plan  
 
17) Note the summary of the delivery actions for the Fairer Westminster Delivery 

Plan 2024/25 provided in Section 4 of the Section 151 Officer’s report. The full 
approved version of the 2024/25 Delivery Plan will be published in mid-March. 

 
 

Page 14



 
2. Capital Strategy 2024/25 to 2028/29, Forecast Position for 2023/24 and 

Future Years Forecast to 2037/38 
 
(a) The report from the Section 151 officer, which we considered and which is 

attached as Appendix 2 sets out the Council’s capital strategy from 2024/25 to 
2028/29 and summarises the position up to 2037/38.  
 

(b) The general fund capital programme as detailed in Appendix A of the Section 
151 officer’s report, proposes a gross budget of £2.604bn and a net budget of 
£1.413bn (after taking into account income from grants and capital receipts). 
The capital programme of the Housing Revenue Account is set out separately 
in the HRA Business Plan which accompanies this report as part of the 
Council’s annual budget setting process. 

 
(c) The long-term capital investment plan is underpinned by the Council’s policy 

objectives. Capital proposals are considered within the Council’s overall 
medium to long-term priorities, and the preparation of the capital programme is 
an integral part of the financial planning process. This includes taking account 
of the revenue implications of the projects as part of the revenue budget setting 
process. The Council continues to set aside additional revenue funding each 
year to cover the financing costs of the programme in accordance with 
previously stated plans. Earmarked reserves are also maintained to support the 
financing of the capital programme and provide a sustainable approach to 
funding through the Medium-Term Financial Plan. 

 
 
We recommend: 

 
That the full Council: 
 
1) Approve the capital strategy as set out in this report.  

 
2) Approve the capital expenditure for the General Fund as set out in Appendix A 

for 2024/25 to 2028/29 and future years to 2037/38. 
 

3) Approve that all development and investment projects, along with all 
significant projects follow the previously approved business case governance 
process as set out in section 8 of the Section 151 officer’s report. 

 
4) Approve that no financing sources, unless stipulated in regulations or 

necessary agreements, are ring fenced.  
 

5) Approve the proposed financing of the capital programme and revenue 
implications as set out in section 12 of the Section 151 officer’s report.  

 
6) Delegate to the Executive Director of Finance and Resources the decisions 

surrounding financing of the capital programme to provide sufficient flexibility 
to allow for the most effective use of the Council’s resources. 

 

Page 15



3. Integrated Investment Framework 2024/2025 
 
(a) On 3 March 2023, Full Council gave approval to its previous comprehensive 

strategic integrated investment framework for bringing together and managing 
its investments with the approval of an Integrated Investment Framework.  
 

(b) The 2023/24 financial year began with CPI inflation begin at a level of 8.7% at 
April 2023 before a steady reduction throughout the subsequent months in 
2024 to 4.0% in the twelve months as at December 2023.  
 

(c) Despite a recent fall in inflation the Bank of England (BoE) raised rates in the 
first five months of the financial year reaching a BoE bank rate of 5.25% at 
August 2023. Rates are likely to remain at these elevated levels until the BoE 
see further evidence of the prevailing CPI inflation figures further reducing 
towards its 2.00% target.  
 

(d) As the growing drag from higher interest rates intensifies, it is likely the 
economy will continue to lose momentum in the short to medium term. Strong 
labour demand, fast wage growth and government support have all helped 
maintain household incomes over the past year. Given that CPI inflation is 
expected to decline further with the phasing out of financial support packages 
that were provided by the government during the energy crisis, real incomes 
are unlikely to grow strongly.  
 

(e) The Council holds £1.16bn of short-term high grade, cash investments (as at 
31 December 2023), managed under the Council’s Treasury Management 
Strategy, which passes through Audit and Performance Committee, Cabinet 
and Full Council on an annual basis. The Council also owns a significant 
number of investment properties, currently valued at £525.10m. It also owns 
various equity shareholdings, with investments in Westminster Builds of 
£23.34m and investments in a pooled property fund partnership of £26.83m 
(31 December 2023 valuation). In addition, the Council is responsible for 
managing the Westminster City Council Pension Fund which had net assets 
of £1.91bn (31 December 2023 valuation) and operates under the Fund’s 
Investment Strategy Statement (ISS) set by the Pension Fund Committee. 
 

(f) The Treasury investment portfolio is currently generating a return of 5.35% (at 
portfolio date 31 December 2023) in the current financial year 2023/24. The 
investment properties are currently generating around 5.80%, net of direct 
costs (based on the final accounts for 2022/23). The latest current CPI 
inflation rate of 4.0% (as at December 2023) must be considered alongside 
the current total portfolio yield. 

 
 
We recommend: 
 
That the full Council: 
 
1) Approve and implement the Integrated Investment Framework set out in 
       the report at Appendix 3. 

Page 16



 
2) Approve that the target for the overall return on Council investments should 

aspire to at least meet forecasts for inflation over the medium term. 
 
3) Approve that the benefits of investing in the Pension Fund should be used as a 

benchmark when evaluating other investments. 
 
4) Adopt the asset allocation percentage ranges set out in the framework and 

work towards achieving these. 
 
5) Agree that the overarching objective of this framework is to achieve an overall 

return on Council investments, matching CPI inflation over the medium term, 
and to reduce costs and liabilities, while maintaining adequate cash balances 
for operational purposes, and not exposing the capital value of investments to 
unnecessary risk.  

 
6) Agree that assets must only be acquired for strategic purposes. Such 

prospective acquisitions must be considered individually, with the reasons for 
investment limited to regeneration or development of the location, or other 
strategic purposes in which the asset is established. Out-of-borough 
acquisitions may also be considered by exception. 

 
7) Agree the Investment Executive to implement, monitor and report on the 

investment strategy. 
 

 
 
 

4. Treasury Management Strategy Statement for 2024/25 to 2028/29 
 

(a) The Local Government Act 2003 (“the Act”) and the Regulations made under 
the Act require the Council to have regard to the Prudential Code for Capital 
Finance in Local Authorities and to set Prudential Indicators for the next 
three years to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are 
affordable, prudent and sustainable. These are contained within the report 
we considered which is attached as Appendix 4. 
 

(b) The Act also requires the Council to set out a statement of its treasury 
management strategy for borrowing and to prepare an Annual Investment 
Strategy (as shown in Appendix 1 of the Section 151 officer’s report). This 
sets out the Council’s policies for managing its investments and for giving 
priority to the security and liquidity of those investments. The Treasury 
Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy must both 
have regard to guidance issued by the Department for Levelling Up, Housing 
and Communities (DLUHC) and must be agreed by Full Council. 
 

(c) The report proposes an updated Treasury Management Strategy Statement 
(TMSS) for the period 2024/25 to 2028/29, and Annual Investment Strategy 
(AIS) for the year ended 31 March 2025, together with supporting information. 

 

Page 17



We therefore recommend: 
 
That the full Council: 

 
1) Approve the Treasury Management Strategy Statement. 

 
2) Approve the borrowing strategy and borrowing limits for 2024/25 to 2028/29 

set out in section 6 of the Section 151 officer’s report. 
 
3) Approve the Prudential Indicators set out in section 8 of the Section 151 

officer’s report. 
 
4) Approve the Annual Investment Strategy and approved investments set out in 

Appendix 1 of the Section 151 officer’s report. 
 
5) Approve the Minimum Revenue Provision Policy set out in Appendix 2 of the 

Section 151 officer’s report. 
 

6) Approve the Delegation of authority to the Executive Director of Finance and 
Resources to proceed with: (a) the obtaining of a credit rating as set out in the 
report; and 3 (b) to appoint Link Group, a Treasury consultant, for the 
purposes of obtaining that rating. 

 
 
5. Housing Revenue Account 30-Year Business Plan and Housing 

Investment Plan 2024/25 
 
(a) We considered a report from the Strategic Director of Housing and 

Commercial Partnerships (Appendix 5) which updates the Housing Revenue 
Account Business Plan and Housing Investment Plan agreed last year.  The 
report provided an overview of the financial planning that supports the 
management of the 21,160 homes operated by the Council’s HRA. This 
covers both revenue and capital expenditure and therefore incorporates the 
extensive Housing Investment Plan. 
 

(b) Despite a volatile economic backdrop that continues to present the HRA with 
significant financial challenges (see Section 7 of the report from the Strategic 
Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships), the Council has delivered 
a sustainable HRA Business Plan from 2024/25 onwards. In doing so, it has 
managed to safeguard all planned housing investment whilst also adding two 
new schemes. This is significant in the context of the Council’s Fairer 
Westminster vision and the delivery of more social housing within 
Westminster. 

 
(c) Housing is a significant pillar within this vision and the HRA Business Plan is 

therefore a critical enabler for Council in delivering key strategic outcomes. As 
well as maximising the delivery of social housing, the plan supports 
investment in several other important objectives which are covered in Section 
5 of the report from the Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial 
Partnerships. This includes increasing frontline staff, improving the condition 

Page 18



and safety of existing stock, and investment to both retrofit homes and replace 
the Pimlico District Heating Undertaking (PDHU) in support of achieving net 
zero carbon emissions by 2030. 

 
(d) In April 2023, a council-wide Housing Improvement Programme was 

introduced to improve the delivery of housing services in Westminster. This 
programme involves a thorough review of all areas of the service, to identify 
both the areas that are working well and the areas in which the Council needs 
to deliver improvements for residents. The HRA Business Plan provides the 
platform for the investment required to support this transformation programme 
and one-off funding of £4.550m has been earmarked to support the delivery of 
important service outcomes. 

 
(e) The report sought approval for the HRA revenue budget for 2024/25 (see 

Section 8 of the report from the Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial 
Partnerships). This included approval for the proposed uplifts to both HRA 
rents and non-dwelling charges to take effect from 1st April 2024. The Council 
is proposing to adopt a 7.7% rent increase for 2023/24 (in line with the 
maximum limit set by the national rent policy), along with 6.7% increases to 
non-dwelling charges (in line with CPI as per its wider fee & charges policy). It 
is acutely aware of the current pressure on household incomes and proposes 
to extend the Rent Support Fund by 12 months to provide targeted support to 
tenants (earmarking a further £1.050m within HRA reserves).  

 
Based on these proposals, the HRA will generate £134.84m across a range of 
income streams in 2024/25 (of which £93.35m, or 69%, comes from tenant 
rents). The 2024/25 expenditure budget is £127.98m, which leaves an 
operating surplus of £6.855m (which will be used to fund the capital and 
manage debt levels.  

 
(f) The report also sought approval for the 5-year HRA capital programme which 

included planned capital expenditure of £920.52m (see Section 9 of the report 
from the Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships). The 30-
year programme totals £2.493bn. Approximately 35% of the programme is 
funded from external sources (£0.863bn) with the remainder supported by the 
HRA itself. This includes a requirement to borrow an additional £597m over 
the next 15 years (an increase of £118m on the previous iteration). The 
business plan ensures this is prudent by setting minimum reserve levels, 
applying a minimum interest cover ratio, and creating appropriate 
contingencies to manage risk (see Section 12 of the report from the Strategic 
Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships). 

 
 
We recommend: 

 
That the full Council: 

 
1) Approve the HRA revenue budget for 2024/25 (Table 1 and Appendix 3 of the 

Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships’ report). 
 

Page 19



2) Note the HRA 5-year revenue budgets for 2024/25 to 2028/29 (Appendix 3 of 
the Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships’ report) and 
HRA 30-year revenue budgets for 2024/25 to 2053/54 (Appendix 4a of the 
Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships’ report). 

 
3) Approve the HRA 5-year Capital Programme totalling £920.52m (Table 4 of 

the Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships’ report) 
 
4) Note the 30-year Capital Programme for 2024/25 to 2053/54 totalling 

£2.493bn (Appendix 5 of the Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial 
Partnerships’ report). 

 
5) Approve the inclusion of all Fairer Westminster investments, including the 

extension of the HRA Rent Support Fund by £1.050m for 2024/25 (to be 
earmarked to support tenants experiencing financial difficulty during the cost-
of-living crisis).  

 
6) Approve a rent increase of 7.7% from 1st April 2024 in line with the maximum 

increase for social rent set by the national rent policy, whilst noting that the 
Council continues to exercise its discretion under the rent restructuring policy 
to set rents for re-lets (both new tenants and transfers) up to formula target 
rent.  

 
7) Approve an increase of 6.7% to the fees charged for garages, sheds and 

parking (in line with CPI at September 2023) from 1st April 2024. 
 
8) Approve that tenant service charges be varied in line with estimated actual 

costs for 2024/25 from 1st April 2023.  
 
9) Note the HRA reserves and balances for the 5-year Business Plan (Table 5 of 

the Strategic Director of Housing and Commercial Partnerships’ report). 
 
 
 
6. Pay Policy 2024-2025 
 
(a) The Council is required to publish its Pay Policy by 31st March every year. 
 
(b) The Pay Policy brings together all the Council’s existing policies on pay and 

must include details in relation to all aspects of Chief Officer’s remuneration, 
increases and additions to remuneration, bonuses, termination payments and 
remuneration on recruitment.  

 
(c) This report appends the proposed Pay Policy Statement for 2024-25. All pay 

data in the Pay Policy Statement uses the snapshot date as of 31 March 2023 
unless stated otherwise. 

 
(d) The report we received, from the Executive Director of Democracy, Law and 

People (attached as Appendix 6) outlined no major changes compared to last 
year’s policy.  

Page 20



 
We recommend: 
 
That the full Council: 
 
Approve the Pay Policy for 2024 – 2025 as attached as Appendix 1 to the report of 
the Executive Director of Democracy, Law and People. 
 
_________________________ 
 
Cllr Adam Hug, Leader of the Council 
 
Background Papers 
 
Reports and Minutes of Cabinet Meeting: 19 February 2024 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Report of the General Purposes Committee held on 31 January 2024 
 
Present: Councillors David Boothroyd (Chair), Ellie Ormsby, Tim Mitchell 
 

Members’ Allowance Scheme 2024-2025 
 
(a) The Council is required, if it wishes to pay such allowances, to adopt a 

Members’ Allowances Scheme on an annual basis with effect from 1 April 
each year.  
 

(b) In drawing up the Members’ Allowances Scheme, regard under the relevant 
legislation must be given to the recommendations of the London-wide 
Independent Remuneration Panel convened by London Councils. The report 
of the Remuneration Panel made several recommendations on Members 
Allowances which were outlined in the report the Committee discussed.  
 

(c) Several options were explored by officers and these were set out for the 
Committee to have regard to. In addition, cross-party consultation had taken 
place, following which officers had recommended Option 2 for approval. 

 
(d) In considering the proposals the Committee noted the views of both political 

parties of the council and following discussions the Committee agreed to 
recommend to Full Council Option 2 as the most appropriate method to 
update the scheme in this year.  This option, as set out in the report, was to 
recommend a 3.88% increase in basic and special responsibility allowances, 
which reflected the staff pay award. 
 

(e) The Committee also discussed changes in the Allowances scheme in future 
year and recommended that Full Council agree to increase the Members’ 
Allowances (Basic and SRA) for the years 2024/25 and 2025/26 in line with 
any future salary increase for Council staff that may be agreed by the National 
Joint Council for Local Government Services. 

 
Recommendation:  
 
That Full Council:  
 
1) Be recommended to approve Option 2 of the Member Allowances 

2024-2025 Scheme, a 3.88% uplift across all allowances (Basic and 
SRAs) as set out in the General Purposes Committee Report, with 
effect from 1 April 2024.  

 
2) Be recommended to agree to increase the Members’ Allowances 

(Basic and SRA) for the years 2024/25 and 2025/26 in line with any 
future salary increase for Council staff that may be agreed by the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services. 

 
 

David Boothroyd, Chair  
 
 
Background Papers  
 
Appendix 1 - Report to General Purposes Committee (31.01.24) 

Page 23

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Cabinet Report
	5 Report of the General Purposes Committee

